1977

Ara Otteson and Nellie A. Otteson, Husband and Wife v. Richard D. Malone and Hila Sue Malone, Husband and Wife : Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a civil case wherein the Appellants appeal from that portion of the trial court judgment declaring Appellants' option to purchase real property void and denying Appellants' demand for specific performance of said option. Appellants also appeal from the Order denying their Motion for New Trial and Alternative Relief by Amendment of Findings, Conclusions, and Judgment.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

This matter came for trial before the Honorable Edward Sheya, Judge of the Seventh Judicial District Court for Emery County on December 7 and 8, 1976. The Court declared void the option to purchase provisions of a "Lease and Option" executed between the Appellants and the Respondents. The Court also denied the Appellants' demand for specific performance of the

option to purchase and denied Appellants' Motion for New Trial and Alternative Relief by Amendment of Findings, Conclusions, and Judgment.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants seek judgment declaring their option to purchase valid and granting their request for specific performance of said option.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case came for trial before the Honorable Edward Sheya, District Judge, on December 7 and 8, 1976. That portion of the Judgment appealed from regards an instrument entitled Lease and Option executed by the appellants and the respondents.

The appellants had previously purchased from the respondents 10 acres of land without water rights. Thereafter, on June 27, 1974, appellants prevailed on the respondents to lease them an additional 28 acres which could be irrigated. Considerable discussion followed concerning the exact nature of the lease.

Eventually, Mrs. Otteson suggested that Mr. Boyd Bunnell, Attorney at Law, be contacted to draw up the necessary document. Because of her poor health, Mrs. Otteson did not personally see Mr. Bunnell, but Mr. Otteson and Mrs. Malone visited his office. Mr. Otteson, however, had difficulties with the batteries in his hearing aid and testified that he was unable to hear during the meeting with the attorney.

The instrument entitled Lease and Option was subsequently

mailed to the parties who all testified that they had read the same.

Again, the parties discussed the instrument and decided that certain provisions needed clarifying. The document was returned to the attorney who re-wrote it accordingly and sent the second draft to the parties.

The testimony at this point is divergent. Mr. Otteson testified that he and his wife read and signed the Lease and Option at home. The appellants claim that all four parties met together and that Mr. Malone read aloud the second draft, after which all of the parties signed the document.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE GRANTED THE APPELLANTS' PRAYER FOR SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THEIR OPTION TO PURCHASE RESPONDENTS' REAL PROPERTY BECAUSE THE RESPONDENTS ARE BOUND BY THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE LEASE AND OPTION AS CONTAINED WITHIN THE FOUR CORNERS OF THE WRITTEN INSTRUMENT.

The Lease and Option at issue in this case is neither a lengthy nor a legally complex instrument. It is but three pages long, neatly written in standard size type, and clearly labeled LEASE AND OPTION. There are only nine provisions listed under its "terms and conditions". Three of those nine provisions refer specifically to the right of the Appellants to purchase the property and how that right is to be exercised. In short, the Lease and Option is simple and unambiguous.

The trial Court decided early in its proceedings that

no question of fraud, misrepresentation, or undue influence was involved. (Tr. 123) Barring these factors, the Respondents should be bound by their signatures on this straight-forward instrument. They should not now be permitted to admit evidence varying the terms of the instrument. In this regard, the authors of 49 Am Jur 2d, Landlord and Tenant, Section 367 at page 383 state:

"Generally speaking, evidence is inadmissible to vary the unambiguous terms of a written lease granting the lessee an option to purchase the premises. . . . An option to purchase in a lease constitutes a contract of sale when the option is exercised, and it has been held that it may be binding to such an extent that a court of equity will remove it as a cloud upon title even after the period of the lease has terminated."

In April of 1974, the Utah Supreme Court handed down a decision which bears directly on the instant case. There the Plaintiff-Appellant was a real estate broker appealing from a lower court decision denying his recovery of a broker's commission. A printed provision in the "Exclusive Right to Sell" document was at issue, and the defendant persuaded the lower court that the provision, although precisely written, was not the actual agreement of the parties. The Supreme Court in reversing the judgment emphasized the importance of excluding parol evidence in the case of an instrument containing unambiguous terms:

"Parol Evidence may be received to clarify ambiguous language in a contract, to show what the agreement was relative to filling in blanks, and to supply omitted terms which were agreed upon but inadvertently left out of the written agreement. However, under the general rule, which is applicable here, parole evidence may not be given to change the terms of a written agreement which are clear, definite, and unambiguous. To permit

that would be to cast doubt upon the integrity of all contracts and to leave a party to a solemn agreement at the mercy of the uncertainties of oral testimony given by one who in the subsequent light of events discovers that he made a bad bargain.

Written words can be examined so as to ascertain what they stand for in connection with particular conduct or particular objects. Thus expressions of the parties prior to and contemporaneous with the execution of a written instrument may be helpful in understanding the meaning of the language used. However, the defendant here does not seek to explain the meaning of a paragraph. He simply wants the court to eliminate it in its entirety. This the courts cannot do." E. A. Strout Western Realty Agency, Inc., vs Owen H. Broderick 522 P2d 145, 146 (1974).

The Court buttressed this position by also citing B. T. Moran, Inc. vs First Security Corporation, 82 U 316, 24 P2d 384 (1933); Hatch vs Adams, 8 U2d 82, 329 P2d 285 (1958); and Fox Film Corporation vs Ogden Theatre Co., Inc., 82 U 279, 17 P2d 294 (1932).

An earlier case, Rainford vs Rytting, 22 U2d 252, 451 P2d 769 (1969) had met with similar treatment by the court. There a corporate shareholder brought an action against two other shareholders seeking to hold them liable as guarantors of a corporate contract for the repurchase of plaintiff's stock. The Supreme Court held that the defendants' affidavit response to the plaintiff's request for summary judgment was inadequate because it consisted only of inadmissible parole evidence. In so holding, the Court on pages 771 and 772 quoted from B. T. Moran, Inc. vs First Security Corporation supra.

"The rule is well settled that, where the parties have reduced to writing what appears to be a complete and certain agreement, it will, in the absence of fraud, be conclusively presumed that the writing contained the whole of the agreement between the parties, that it is a complete memorial of such agreement, and that parole

evidence of contemporaneous conversations, representations, or statements will not be received for the purpose of varying or adding to the terms of the written document."

Again, the "LEASE AND OPTION" is an unambiguous document written in terms of common usage. A reasonable man perusing the instrument could readily ascertain that two things are the subjects of the instrument: A lease, and an option to purchase. Considering that approximately 1/3 of the document refers directly to the option and that words and phrases such as "purchase", "purchase price", "fair market value" and "retain a life estate", are scattered throughout the document it is difficult to believe that the Respondents were not cognizant of the purpose of the instrument, especially considering the testimony by Mr. Otteson at trial that he had read the document.

The purpose of the parole evidence rule is to protect parties of forthright contracts. Since it is difficult to imagine an instrument more concise and clear than the Lease and Option in the instant case, justice requires that the Appellants be protected in their contractual expectations. To permit otherwise is to preclude the Appellants from a bargain which they made every effort to guarantee by a precise writing. The very purpose of the parole evidence rule as stated by CJS points out the need for its application in the present case:

"The rule is founded on the long experience that written evidence is so much more certain and accurate than that which rests in fleeting memory only, that it would be unsafe, when parties have expressed the terms of their contract in writing, to admit weaker evidence to control and vary the stronger and to show that the parties intended a different contract from that expressed in the writing signed by them. It is obvious that written instruments would soon come to be of little value if their explicit provisions could be varied, controlled, or superseded by

parol evidence, and it is also plain that a different rule would greatly increase the temptations to commit perjury. . . "32A CJS Evidence Section 851 at page 216.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT RESPONDENTS MIS-UNDERSTOOD THE OPTION TO PURCHASE, THAT SAID MISUNDER- STANDING CONSTITUTED UNILATERAL MISTAKE OF FACT, AND THAT SAID UNILATERAL MISTAKE OF FACT VOIDS THE OPTION TO PURCHASE.

On page 120 of the Transcript of the trial, Counsel for the Appellants. moved for judgment in their favor regarding the Lease and Option, claiming that the Respondents had not sustained the burden of proof of showing any fraud, misrepresentation, or undue influence. After oral arguments by both counsel, the Court replied to the motion:

"I'll tell you what I'm going to do. If counsel would like an opportunity to brief this, I don't want to be hasty on this thing, but that is the way it looks to me at this time and I will take your motion under advisement. If you care to submit written memoranda to me on this question about whether that consideration extends to the option or not. But I think that is the decisive factor clearly if there was no consideration for that option. I don't think you have a valid option or a binding option. And would you like time to brief that before making a ruling?"

Both counsel then agreed to take two weeks to write memoranda directed to the question of the adequacy of consideration, which they thereafter submitted to the Court.

The Court, however, in coming to its Memorandum Decision completely bypassed the issue of consideration, the factor which it claimed to be decisive, and ruled in the Respondents' favor on the grounds of unilateral mistake. (M. D. pages 2, 3, & 4).

This was clearly prejudicial to the Appellants who had addressed

the consideration issue as requested and sufficient to constitute a substantial error as required by Rule 61 URCP. This in itself should be grounds for overturning the lower Court's decision.

Moreover, it is clear from the testimony at trial that Respondents had ample opportunity to fully understand the document which they signed. Mr. Otteson testified that he had at least two conferences with Malones regarding the document before it was ever drafted (T. 42); that he had good eyesight and could read (T. 43); and that both Respondents read the instrument (T. 45 & 46). He further testified that he discussed the first draft of the Lease and Option with the Appellants before sending it back to the attorney and when the second draft arrived both Respondents again read it. (T 72 & 82)

Mrs. Malone testified that the first draft was returned in order to specify that lease payments be credited to the purchased price (T. 127) and when the second draft arrived, Mr. Malone read it aloud to all four parties before they signed it. (T. 129)

Mr. Malone, in turn, testified that the first draft was corrected specifically to clarify the purchase money agreement and that he read aloud the Lease and Option to all of the parties. (T. 148 & 149)

The Respondents, therefore, had ample opportunity to study both drafts of the document before signing. Mr. Otteson verified that both of the Respondents had read the final document and that he himself had realized when he signed that

the option provision was within the instrument. In its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the trial Court concluded that Mr. Otteson appeared to be in "good health and of sound and disposing memory".

It is clear from the foregoing that the Respondents had every occasion to study the Lease and Option and to consult with the attorney who had prepared it.

Similarly, the Supreme Court in Garff Realty Co. vs Better Buildings, Inc., 234 P2d 842 (1951) considered an action brought to recover a real estate broker's commission where the central issue concerned the defendant's knowledge of what he had signed. On page 844 the Court pointed to the negligence of the defendant in not exercising care in what he signed:

"The trial court properly sustained the objection to the question: 'At the time you signed this were you aware of the provision in that last paragraph?' There was no plea of mistake, fraud or overreaching, or of misrepresentation. The answer of the defendant to the effect that the agent of 'defendant who executed said agreement was not aware of the provision of said agreement relating to the payment of the commission and that it was not the intention of the defendant to become bound for the payment of any commission,' does not sufficiently state any legal defense. The governing rule is thus stated in 12 Am Jr, Contracts, Section 137, pp. 628-29: Ignorance of the contents of an instrument does not ordinarily affect the liability of one who signs it. . . . If a man acts negligently and in such a way as to justify others in supposing that the writing is assented to by him, he will be bound both at law and in equity, even though he supposes the writing is an instrument of an entirely different character. The courts appear to be unanimous in holding that a person who, having the capacity and an opportunity to read a contract, is not misled as to its contents and who sustains no confidential relationship to the other party cannot avoid the contract on the ground of mistake if he signs it without reading it, at least in the absence of special circumstances excusing his failure to read it. If the contract is plain and unequivocal in its terms, he is ordinarily bound thereby."

Another case decided in the same year, Ashworth et al vs Charlesworth et al., 231 P2d 724 (1951) touched on the negligence of a party signing a contract and its relationship to a claim of unilateral mistake:

"Williston on Contracts, Section 1577, P. 4407, explains the effect of negligence on a contract as follows: 'Where the signer of a writing has made an innocent mistake as to the nature of his act without carelessness, whether induced by fraud or not, the writing is not his expression, and there is no contract. But if a man acts negligently, and in such a way as to justify other in supposing that the terms of the writing are assented to by him and the writing is accepted on that supposition, he will be bound both in law and in equity. . .' (Emphasis added by the Court) And in Section 1596, on page 4447, the author states: 'It is frequently said that equity will not reform or rescind a contract if the petitioner has been guilty of negligence, or at any rate of gross negligence. That no such principle can be laid down as a universal rule is obvious. In many if not most cases of mistake in the expression of a contract where reformation is granted, there is some element of lack of care, but, at least, if the mistake is mutual and each party has been careless in failing to make a contract expressing the real intention of both, there seems no reason why relief should not be granted, unless this is made inequitable by some change of position other than merely entering into the contract in question. But if unilateral mistake, where there is no fraud or inequitable conduct, is ever to be regarded as sufficient ground for the rescission of a bi-lateral contract, there is more reason why a court of equity should confine its jurisdiction to cases where the party seeking relief has been free from negligence, since the blame of the situation lies wholly on the party seeking relief. . . ." (Emphasis added by the Court) 231 P2d at 727.

It is the contention of the Appellants that any mistake on the Respondents' behalf could have easily been avoided by the exercise of ordinary care and diligence. This position is strengthened by the CJS discussion of unilateral mistake as it relates to specific performance:

"Even a mistake which is entirely defendant's own, or that of his agent, and for which plaintiff is not directly or indirectly responsible, may defeat specific performance.

In such case, however, the mistake must be an honest one which is not imputable to defendant's negligence or inexcusable carelessness, and the situation must be such that a granting of specific performance will work an unreasonable hardship on defendant as compared with the injury that will result to plaintiff from a denial of specific relief." CJS, Specific Performance, Section 51, pp. 833-834.

Moreover, it is doubtful if unilateral mistake of the type embodied in the instant case is sufficient to void the option. Unilateral mistake can readily be broken into two divisions: Mistakes of facts and mistakes of law. The situation surrounding the signing of the Lease and Option is better classified as belonging to mistakes of law since the Respondents admitted at trial that they were fully aware of the option provisions in the Lease and Option but supposedly failed to comprehend its legal consequences.

Traditionally, courts of equity have been hesitant to provide relief for mistakes of law. This position is illustrated by a portion of the decision rendered in Board of Education of Sevier School District vs Board of Education of Piute School District, 39 P2d 340 (1934) on page 341:

"So, too, in 13 C. J. 379, the author says that it is laid down in general language in many cases that a mistake, in order that it may affect a contract, must be a mistake of fact, and that a mere mistake of law will not affect the enforceability of an agreement, and that a mistake of law is where the person knows the facts of the case but is ignorant of the legal consequences."

There are no other Utah cases directly analogous to the present case, but decisions rendered by the Supreme Courts of two other western states are helpful.

The first is Everett G. Schwieger vs Harry W. Robbins

Wash.
and Company, 290 P2d 984 (1955). This case involved a personal injury action brought for injuries sustained when hay fell from the defendant's truck onto the plaintiff's truck. The court found for the defendant basing its decision on a release signed by the plaintiff. The plaintiff appealed, contending that although the release specifically referred to personal injuries it had been given for the purpose of a property settlement. In finding for the defendant, the court emphasized:

"The release is in plain and unambiguous language. We often have said that the courts will not interpret the meaning of unambiguous contracts. (Citations omitted) Neither will the courts permit oral evidence to establish or create an ambiguity in a written contract. . . . The appellant admits signing the release. He contends that he signed it because he believed no claim for personal injuries then existed under the law. A mistake of law is an erroneous conclusion with respect to the legal effect of known facts. A mistake of law, in the absence of fraud or some like cause, is not a ground for avoidance of a contract." 290 P2d 986.

The second case, although dealing particularly with workman's compensation, includes an informative discussion as pertaining mistakes of law:

"It is a legal maxim that everyone is presumed to know the law. . . . It has been held that a mistake of law does not excuse a party to a contract, unless it be a mutual mistake of both parties thereto, and then is analogous to a mistake of fact, but if there is mutuality of mistake, either of law or of fact, the party upon whom the burden rests must allege and prove such fact." Elmer Lee Flott vs Wenger Mixer Manufacturing Co., 189 Kan. 80, 367 P2d 44 (1961).

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT HOLDING THAT THERE WAS SUFFICIENT CONSIDERATION FOR THE OPTION TO PURCHASE.

The Court itself raised the issue as to whether an

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