1977

Ara Otteson and Nellie A. Otteson, Husband and Wife v. Richard D. Malone and Hila Sue Malone, Husband and Wife : Respondent's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE COURT BELOW DID NOT ABUSE ITS DESCRETION IN DENYING SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE TO THE APPELLANTS ON THEIR COUNTERCLAIM.

The Appellants, in this Appeal, take exception with two rulings of the lower court; the voiding of the option portion of the "Lease and Option", and the denial of Appellant's request for specific performance of the option portion of the agreement. The Appellants in the body of their argument have failed to clearly address the different issues presented by these two separate rulings, but rather have lumped the reformation/rescission theories and cases with specific performance theories and cases. Respondents will hereinafter focus on the court's denial of specific performance believing that the Appellant has not properly treated the law with respect to that ruling.

The granting or denying of a bill of specific performance involves a necessarily fact intensive decision making process on the part of a trial court. As such, the trial court is given a reasonable amount of latitude by courts of appeals which may be couched in terms of "Judicial Discretion", "Sound Discretion", and the like.

Professor Corbin in his work on contracts at Specific Performance, section 1136 discusses the problem of the trial court in weighing the numerous factual and legal considerations that may be involved in passing judgment on a petition for Specific Performance and stated at Volume 5 A Page 95 as follows:

The solving of these problems may require the weighing of conflicting evidence, and in the end may depend upon matters of opinion that are not capable of obvious demonstration. It is in these respects that the court has more "discretion" in a suit for specific performance than in an action for damages.

The matters to be considered and the amount of discretion allowed a trial court in its consideration of a petition for Specific Performance are different from the considerations and discretion involved in an action for rescission or cancellation. Again Professor Corbin, at Specific Performance Section 1136 page 96 states:

While it is going to far to say that granting or refusing of a decree is wholly in the discretion of the trial court, it is true that, in determining the question, a greater variety of facts is to be taken into consideration than is the case in an action for damages for breach of contract.... Among these facts are the public interest, oppression and sharp practice in the formation of a contract, inadequacy of consideration, mistake even though unilateral in character, hardship that will be caused by enforcement, the plaintiffs own breach or inequitable conduct. These and other facts, either singly or in combination may be sufficient to justify a refusal of specific enforcement even though they would not be sufficient to constitute

a defense to an action for damages or even justify an affirmative decree for rescission or cancelation.

This principle of judicial discretion is also well recognized by the Utah Court. In Free vs. Little, 31 Utah 449, 88 P. 407, (1907) and again in McNeil vs. McNeil, 61 Utah 141, 211 P. 988 (1922) the Utah Supreme Court Stated as follows:

The right to specific performance depends not upon hard fast rules according to which all cases are to be decided, but each case is dependent upon its own peculiar facts and circumstances. While the right is to be governed by general rules and principles of equity, each case, nevertheless, must be determined upon its own inheritant equities.

After a court of equity has exercised its discretion the high court, in reviewing such a decision, should view it with considerable deference. In Barber vs. Calder, 522 P.2d, 700 (1974), the Utah Supreme Court sets forth the standard of review in discretionary matters:

In situations where the exercise of discretion is appropriate, considerable weight should be given to the determination of the trial court, whichever way it goes. This is true, because due to his close involvement with the parties, the witnesses and the total circumstances of the case, he is in the best position to judge what the interests of justice require in safeguarding the rights and interests of all parties concerned.

The following are elements of this case upon which the trial court's denial of specific enforcement can properly be based:

1. The significance and effect of the option as executed

was not understood by the Ottesons.

The trial court, by its affirmative findings of fact and statement of the law in its memorandum decision makes it clear that it considered the Ottesons' misapprehension of the meaning and effect of the option as being of primary significance in its denial of specific performance. The court, in its memorandum decision beginning at the top of page two stated as follows:

The court is not clearly satisfied from a preponderance of the evidence that said option embodies the real understanding of the parties, and especially of plaintiff Ara Otteson. The other plaintiff Nellie A. Otteson was by reason of illness and infirmity unable to attend the trial, and therefore, the Court does not have benefit of her testimony.

By reason of the circumstances by which the option was executed, the Court is doubtful that the significance or effect thereof was understood by the plaintiffs, and especially the plaintiff Ara Otteson. The evidence indicates that plaintiff Ara Otteson thought that the option meant he still had the right to determine later whether or not the property should be sold, and only in the event that he thereafter decided to sell the property would the defendants have the right of first refusal. Plaintiff Ara Otteson stated he and his wife told Malones they wouldn't sell the land and did not discuss the option in the form it appeared in the lease.

In 71 Am Jur 2d Pages 79, 80, 81, Sections 53 and 54, the author states, as far as the court deems it applicable to the facts of this case as follows:

"Inasmuch as specific performance will not be granted unless it is in accordance with equity and good conscience, it is well settled that equity may properly and generally refuse to issue a decree of specific performance to compel a defendant to perform a contract which he entered into under mistake in which he would not have entered into had he understood its true effect
Specific performance not being a matter of absolute right, equity will refuse to enforce its performance when not clearly satisfied that it embodies the real understanding of the parties. Where the circumstances under which the contract was executed render it doubtful whether the act was understood by the defendant, the Court is justified in refusing specific performance. Thus in an appropriate case, a unilateral mistake may justify a court of equity in refusing specific performance.

. Neither is actual fraud or intention to defraud necessary to defeat the plaintiff's claim for specific performance. It is sufficient that the mistake is one to which the plaintiff by his acts has unintentionally contributed. In fact, the plaintiff's connection with the mistake is not an essential factor.

While it is well established doctrine that equity will not enforce a contract when the plaintiff contributed to or induced the defendant's mistake or misapprehension, the discretion of a court of equity to refuse specific performance of a contract entered into under mistake, it is not limited to cases in which the mistake is induced or made probable or possible by conduct, acts, or omissions of the plaintiff.

Even though the mistake is that of defendant

or his agent and the plaintiff is neither directly or indirectly responsible therefore, the Court may, and ordinarily will, refuse a decree of specific performance where the mistake is a material one and the enforcement of the contract under the circumstances would be inequitable or a hardship to the defendant, particularly where the plaintiff does not claim to have changed his position before he was notified of the mistake, or to have suffered any loss by reason of having entered into the contract. In such cases, the court is governed by the principle of hardship and unfairness equally with that of mistake."

"By reason of the above, the Court denies the defendant specific performance of the option to purchase the plaintiff's real property described in the lease agreement dated June 27, 1974. Therefore, it is unnecessary for the court to make a specific finding as to whether a separate consideration was necessary for the option. (Emphasis added)

The court has cited its own authority for its finding but there are additional authorities to be found which also support the court's action. 81 C.J.S. at page 830, Specific Performance Section 50, Subsection (a) reads:

Specific Performance will ordinarily be denied if it is doubtful whether there has ever been a meeting of the minds or a full and complete understanding of all the essential terms of the contract sought to be enforced. Specific Performance will also be denied if a misunderstanding as to an important matter is evident or the intention, as expressed, has not been understandingly formed because of mistake, misapprehension or misrepresentation as to a material matter, in the absence of which the contract would not have

been entered into. Since in determining specific enforceability of a contract, a court of equity acts on different principles than where cancelation or reformation of a contract is sought, specific performance may be denied even though there is no such misunderstanding, fraud, or mistake as would permit the contract to be canceled or reformed. (Emphasis added)

The clearest statement of this principle in case law is found in Chambers vs. Livermore, 15 Mich. 381, (1867), in which the Michigan Court stated as follows:

Specific Performance, even of a binding contract, is not a matter of right; and a court of equity will refuse it, and turn the complainant over to his remedy at law, if not clearly satisfied that it embodies the real understanding of the parties. At page 138.

In the case of Pope Manufacturing Company vs. Gormully, 144 U.S. 224, 36 L.ed 414 (1891) United States Supreme Court based its affirmation of a denial of specific performance on its determination that the defendant did not understand the legal purport of the instrument which he signed. The court stated as follows:

...Specific Performance is not an absolute right, but one which rests entirely in judicial discretion, exercised, it is true, according to the settled principles of equity and not arbitrarily or capriciously, and always with reference to the facts of the particular case. (citing cases)

...Indeed, the operation of these covenants upon his legitimate business was such that it is hardly possible he could have understood their legal purport.... We have not found it necessary to go into the details of this testimony. While we are not satisfied that his assent to the contract was obtained by any fraud or misrepresentation or that the defendant should not be bound by it to the extent to which it is valid at law, we are clearly of the opinion that it is of such a character that the plaintiff has no right to call upon a court of equity to give it the relief it has sought to obtain in this suit.

2. Appellants had failed to satisfactorily perform their portion of the contract.

Professor Corbin, at Volume 5(a) page 301, Specific Performance Section 1175 states:

In the case of a bilateral contract in which the promised performances constitute an agreed exchange of equivalence, one who has himself broken his promise in some material respect cannot get a decree of specific performance.

A court of equity, if it is to require a defendant to perform his contract with exactness and specificity, may legitimately require that the plaintiff to have performed his obligations with the same kind of exactness and specificity. Recently the court which Appellant and Respondent are now before held in Fischer vs. Johnson, 525 P.2d, 45 (1974) as follows:

But it is also true that Specific Performance is a remedy of equity; and one who invokes it must have clean hands in having done equity himself. That is, he must take care to discharge his own duties under the contract; and he cannot rely on any mere inconvenience as an excuse for his failure to do so. Even if inconvenience or difficulty is encountered, he must make an effort to perform or tender performance, which manifests reasonable diligence and a bonified desire to keep his own promises.

The lower court in the case now before this court made the following finding of fact in paragraph 12 on page 6 of Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law:

That defendants have not kept the terms of the lease in that they have failed to pay lease payments as due, water assessment charges due, and property taxes defendants were required to pay by the terms of the lease.

The Malones having failed to perform with exactness and good faith, the terms of the lease and option agreement. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in failing to require the Ottesons to specifically perform their covenants and promises under the Lease and Option Agreement.

The appellants in their brief, point I, argue that the parole evidence rule prevents the court from considering anything but the "four corners of the written instrument" in its determination of a defense to specific performance. This is a complete misstatement of the law of specific performance. In Free vs. Little (supra) and McNeil vs. McNeil (supra) the Utah Supreme Court stated that

The right to specific performance depends not upon hard fast rules according to which all cases are to be decided, but each case is dependent upon its own peculiar facts and circumstances.
(Emphasis added)

In Chamber vs. Livermore (supra) the same question was presented to the court, resulting in the following comment by that court:

Complainant however, insists that all the parole proof introduced to show that the reservation was agreed upon as alleged in the answer, was incompetent. This objection is untenable, Without now approaching the mooted question, whether a complainant can be allowed to show by parole a mistake in a contract, with a view to having it reformed and then enforced,

it is sufficient for us to say there is no dispute in the authorities that the mistake may be shown by parole, as a defense to specific performance of the written instrument. See 1 Lead. Cas. in eq. 519 (Margi) Note, and cases cited.

The Trial court in its equity jurisdiction over the specific performance of the option did properly consider the circumstances surrounding the contract and its execution and properly exercised its discretion in denying specific performance.

POINT II

THE COURTS RULINGS WERE PROPERLY BASED ON EVIDENCE BEFORE THE COURT AT TRIAL.

The tryer of fact may consider all of the facts and circumstances which may have a bearing on the truthfulness or accuracy of any witnesses' statement and is not bound to give equal credibility to all witnesses. Gittens vs. Lundberg, 3 Utah 2d., 392, 284 P.2d 1115 (1955). The record on appeal including the trial transcript shows the following which support the major findings of fact made by the court:

a. As to the age and health of the parties, the court was present to see each party for itself and in addition, the following testimony appears. Mr. Cassity asked (at trial transcript page

43,) why Nellie Otteson had not accompanied Ara to the office of Boyd Bunnell.

A. She wasn't able to go.

Q. Why not?

A. Crippled up. Not feeling well.

Q. She has pretty much been an invalid for many years?

A. Yes sir.

At trial transcript page 222 the following dialogue appears in direct examination:

Q. How is it, that you are taking care of your wife today and yesterday?

A. Well it is very hard work.

Q. No, I am saying who takes care of her?

A. My sister, Mrs. Collard.

Q. And who took care of her yesterday?

A. Mrs. Fox.

Q. Relief Society President?

A. Yes sir.

b. Bearing on the finding of fact that Ara Otteson farmed the 28 acres with his father and had been a farmer on the land for his entire life time is the following dialogue appearing in the trial transcript at page 41:

Q. And is it true that on the 28.2 acres you had your home?

A. Yes sir.

Q. And that is where you and Mrs. Otteson reside?

A. Yes,

Q. And is it true that over the years through inheritance from your forebears that you obtained the title to the property?

A. Yes.

Q. Now did you farm this ground for many years?

A. Yes.

At page 56 of the trial transcript, appears the following:

Q. Do you have any personal judgment - how many years did you farm Mr. Otteson?

A. Several years. I farmed since about 30, 1930.

Q. From 1930 to when.

A. 1972.

c. As to the courts findings that plaintiffs did orally agree to enter into a lease of the land to the defendants, the following testimony appears beginning on the 11th line of page 41 of the trial transcript.

Q. How long was it before that date that you first talked about the lease on the 28 acres or was it about that time?

A. It was in March. About the 21st.

Q. And who started talking about the lease?

A. Malones.

THE COURT: Speak as loud as you can.

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And Mr. Otteson, will you tell us how that happened? Did they come to you or did you go to them? Tell us what happened?

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